# **Public Document Pack**



#### **NORTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE**

#### MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY 5 MARCH 2024

**Present:** Cllrs Belinda Ridout (Chairman), Mary Penfold (Vice-Chairman), Tim Cook, Toni Coombs, Les Fry, Brian Heatley, Carole Jones, Stella Jones, Val Pothecary and David Taylor

**Apologies:** Cllrs Jon Andrews and Emma Parker

## Officers present (for all or part of the meeting):

Steven Banks (Planning Officer), Lucy Bruce, Ross Cahalane (Lead Project Officer), Enrico Dimarino (Engineer (Development Liaison), Joshua Kennedy (Democratic Services Officer), Hannah Massey (Lawyer - Regulatory), Fiona McDonnell (Senior Planning Officer), Megan Rochester (Democratic Services Officer), Steve Savage (Transport Development Liaison Manager), Hannah Smith (Development Management Area Manager (North)) and Cass Worman (Planning Officer).

#### 61. Declarations of Interest

Cllr Tim Cook declared that he was pre-determined for agenda items 7 and 8. It was agreed that he would not take part in the discussion or debate but would speak as the local ward member.

Cllr Mary Penfold declared that she was pre-determined for agenda item 9 and 10. It was agreed that she would not take part in the discussion or debate.

#### 62. Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 19<sup>th</sup> December were confirmed and signed.

#### 63. Registration for public speaking and statements

Representations by the public to the Committee on individual planning applications are detailed below. There were no questions, petitions or deputations received on other items on this occasion.

#### 64. Planning Applications

Members considered written reports submitted on planning applications as set out below.

# 65. P/FUL/2021/04205 - Saxon Maybank East Farm Grain Mills, Bradford Abbas, Sherborne, DT9 6JN

With the aid of a visual presentation including plans and aerial photographs, the Case Officer identified the site and explained the proposal and relevant planning policies to members. Photographs of the site plan, proposed landscaping plans, elevations and floor plans were shown. Members were informed that there was a tree preservation order which had been put in place to mitigate harm. The Case Officer also discussed public rights of way and included images of views looking south, southwest, west, north, and northwest onto the site. The presentation also outlined key issues and referred to policies ECON6 and ECON 7 which referred to caravan and camping sites and built tourist accommodation.

The officer's recommendation was to:

- A) Grant planning permission subject to conditions and subject to the completion of a legal agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), in a form to be agreed by the legal services manager to secure landscaping.
- B) Refuse to grant planning permission if a legal agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) is not completed by 05/09/2024 or such extended time as agreed by the Head of Planning.

### **Public Participation**

Members of the public spoke in objection to the application. An area of concern was nutrient neutrality with concerns raised as to whether the harm from increased phosphate discharge could be successfully mitigated and thus avoid harm to the Somerset Levels and Moors Ramsar Site. Mr Park highlighted that the site consisted of high-quality barn conversions and semi-permanent wooden lodges used by owners for extended periods of time, it was not a caravan park for short term holiday lets. Concerns were raised as to the practicalities of the proposed drainage mitigation solution. Speakers queried Natural England's advice that any harm could be mitigated. Ms McDowall also made a representation and commented on the proposal, highlighting that she had a second home situated on the proposal land and was concerned about additional carayans. She commented on the impacts that this would have in relation to privacy and lack of natural light which would have become overbearing. Mr Howard also discussed the site layout plan and the boundaries which they felt violated the Council parking requirements as to width and turning space provision. Objectors felt as though the proposal was insufficient and if approved, would have negative impacts. In conclusion, they hoped members would make the decision to refuse permission.

The applicant spoke in support of the application and highlighted the history of the site which was originally submitted in 2021. Mr Funnell was hopeful that a decision would have been made to support. He noted that it was a comprehensive planning scheme but felt as though it had a lot of positive benefits to the surrounding areas. The applicant discussed how the area attracted a lot of visitors and holiday makers all year and thanked the members for their time and consideration.

A statement was read on behalf of Cllr Robin Legg in his absence. Saxon Maybank had a caravan site licence but was not a typical holiday caravan park where residents live near one another for a week or two. Only two of the sixteen units on site were available as short-term holiday lets. The remainder are second homes in a countryside setting and six of those, barn conversions. The proposed development would have had a significant and overbearing impact on the amenity of unit 11. Residents which live and visit here should enjoy the same level of amenity as any other housing development and referenced policy ENV16. Over development of the site was also discussed. Permission was granted on appeal for development of 11 units. Cllr Legg felt that it ought not to have received approval looking at policy. However, the local landscape character would have benefited by the removal of an ugly and derelict feed mill. Increasing the number of units to 19 was a clear over development. The Local Ward members statement also reflected views that the proposal would not improve the quality and appearance of the site. The treatment of wastewater was also a cause for concern as it was calculated that drainage fields proposed wouldn't cover the area. It would cause harm to the protected area and residential units. Cllr Legg was also concerned by the lack of archaeological conditions and the impact of public rights of way.

## **Members questions and comments**

- Drainage of the site
- Clarification regarding completed surveys.
- Residential amenity
- Confirmation on use of the building's occupancy.
- Comments regarding fire risk assessment
- Concerns regarding amenity of the lodges.
- Clarification of public footpaths on site.
- Proximity of archaeological site.
- Occupancy figures.
- Concerns regarding parking, turning spaces and onsite disabled parking.
- Questions as to why the application had taken this length of time to come to committee for a decision.
- Distance of units and length of proposed caravans.
- Lack of communal space
- Members felt it was an overdevelopment and was a poorly designed scheme.

Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application and an understanding of all this entailed; having considered the officer's report and presentation; the written representatives; and what they had heard at the meeting, a motion to overturn the officer's recommendation for **APPROVAL** and **REFUSE** planning permission, was proposed by Cllr Les Fry, and seconded by Cllr David Taylor.

**Decision:** To refuse planning permission subject to the following reasons:

- 1. Insufficient drainage information has been provided to demonstrate that the site would be appropriately drained, taking account of surface water, and with the surrounding agricultural land being sited at a higher gradient.
- 2. The proposal would result in an adverse impact on the amenity of unit 11 through sharing an overbearing relationship which would result in a reduced level of amenity afforded to the living areas of unit 11, contrary to policy ENV.16 of the West Dorset and Weymouth Local Plan.

## 66. P/FUL/2023/05314 - Land at Mampits Lane, Shaftesbury, SP7 8GL

The Case Officer provided members with an update regarding corrections to the consultation section of the report:

- Following further consultations, no objections had been received for this proposal.
- Discrepancy in number of supporters of the proposal.

With the aid of a visual presentation including plans and aerial photographs, the Case Officer identified the site and explained the proposal and relevant planning policies to members. Photographs of the existing site and proposed elevation plans were shown. Members were informed of the key planning considerations which included impacts of community hub upon the character of the area, site layout and nature park provision, number of parking spaces, impacts on residential amenity, flood risk and biodiversity. The Case Officer provided details regarding tree protection which would have been maintained throughout the construction period and retained, in addition to this he also highlighted the inclusion of a proposed meadow.

#### **Public Participation**

Members of the public spoke in support of the application. Mr Dibben highlighted the number of signatures which had been received in support of the application and was hopeful that it would have a lot of public benefits. Car parking was also discussed which complied with the local neighbourhood plan and had adequate parking which would have controlled access to mitigate overflow parking by residents and conformed with the neighbourhood plan. Mr Reeve's highlighted that the proposed building would have been situated behind the existing tree line and emphasised the need for preserving and maintaining community green space. Public supporters also raised to members the number of supports that had been received by residents. Ms Chilver also addressed the committee and reiterated the need for the proposal. She highlighted those homes within the area had small gardens and lacked play areas. Supporters were pleased with the designs and felt as though the site was ecologically friendly. Supporters drew attention to the proposals use which would have allowed for multiple event and meeting use. They hoped members would support and grant permission.

The applicant informed members the local need for a town hall. He referred to the neighbourhood plan and discussed the number of signatures which had been collated from a petition which was presented to Dorset Council last year. Mr Yeo felt as though the proposal would be centrally located and would have helped to preserve the village green with the inclusion of nature parks. The applicant was also pleased to note that careful consideration had gone into the proposal, and it also allowed space for the use of the air ambulance if required. The application had received support from the community and hoped members would grant.

#### Members questions and comments

- Clarification regarding existing road use.
- Members were pleased with the proposal and felt it was a benefit to the local community.

Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application and an understanding of all this entailed; having considered the officer's report and presentation; the written representatives; and what they had heard at the meeting, a motion to **APPROVE** the officer's recommendation to **GRANT** planning permission, subject to conditions, as recommended, was proposed by Cllr David Taylor, and seconded by Cllr Valerie Pothecry.

**Decision:** To grant the officer's recommendation for approval subject to conditions set out in the officer's report.

# 67. P/FUL/2023/06670 - Land at Mampits Lane Shaftesbury, Shaftesbury Town Council

With the aid of a visual presentation including plans and aerial photographs, the Case Officer identified the site and explained the proposal and relevant planning policies to members. Photographs of the existing site, layout and internal and external elevations were shown. The AONB was also identified to provide context. Members were informed of the key planning issues, in particular the impact on the community and public amenity as well as layout, public open space, parking, flooding, and biodiversity.

The Case Officer highlighted to members the proposed provision of public open space which would have included the retention of open green space as well as improving the rough grassland. In addition to this, the protection during construction of trees and hedgerows was also discussed. The presentation also provided details of parking provision which had met Dorset parking standards, totalling 15 spaces. Details of the inclusion of solar panels, heat source pumps and accessibility of bin stores were discussed. The proposal conformed with policy 25 of the local plan and NPPF and had undergone a biodiversity mitigation plan. The recommendation was to grant subject to conditions set out in the officer's report.

#### **Public Participation**

Residents spoke in objection to the proposal. They did not feel as though the site would have been properly managed and conflicted with planning policies. Mr Dibben discussed the impacts on wildlife corridors and had concerns regarding uncontrolled parking. Residents had a lack of faith in the Town Council's proposal and suggested that they were opposed to the provision of a community hall on this site 3 years ago. Mr Reeve noted his disappointment that the proposed building was in front of an existing tree line and felt as though it lacked insufficient green space which was a local need. Ms Chilver felt as though the proposal wasn't well put together and would have negative impacts on neighbouring properties. She felt as though it was a poor use of the site and destroyed the boundary of the countryside to the existing development. Objectors felt as though the site should be for the benefit of residents and did not feel as though an owned and staffed proposal was suitable. Concerns were also raised regarding a dangerous corner which had been subject to several near accidents, they highlighted if granted, this proposal would only make things worse and more dangerous for road users. They hoped members would overturn the officer's recommendation for approval.

Cllr Yeo addressed the committee and highlighted that residents did not want the proposal. He stated that he lived in the area and knew the views of the local community. He was disappointed that the Shaftesbury Town Council didn't want to run the proposal and felt as though it had been poorly designed and destroyed the village green space. Cllr Yeo urged the committee to not support the proposal and to listen to the views of residents and not impact the view of the countryside further.

Cllr Lewer highlighted that the Town Council had submitted the proposal on behalf of the Shaftesbury residents and had public consultation from the beginning. He assured members that the money would have been spent carefully to ensure local needs were met. He felt that the proposal was a sufficient use of the land and enhanced biodiversity. Cllr Lewer believed that the proposal was a good and better plan which would have been a good addition to the community which could have been used by the NHS and other agencies. He assured members that the project had been designed to be flexible and to future proof it.

The Local Ward member spoke in support of the application. He noted that the Town Council had set up a working group and had received a lot of responses. Cllr Cook also highlighted that the proposal had been designed by community volunteers and by those living in the area. He also drew attention to the biodiversity benefits and onsite parking, however, noted that the parking had been designed to promote residents walking and cycling to and from the site. The Local Ward members representation discussed how the proposal had been designed to provide a safe space and to meet the needs of Shaftesbury.

In accordance with Procedural Rule 8.1 the committee voted to extend the duration of the meeting.

#### **Members questions and comments**

- Confirmation regarding outline consent for the scheme.
- Concerns regarding adequate parking spaces and amenities for residents.
- Informal open space areas.
- Clarification on parking use and enforcement.
- Regret that Dorset Council has been drawn into a debate between the Town Council.
- Referred to section 12 of the NPPF and did not feel as though the proposal met the requirements.
- Lack of biodiversity and highlighted the importance of protecting open green spaces.

Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application and an understanding of all this entailed; having considered the officer's report and presentation; the written representatives; and what they had heard at the meeting, as well as advice from the Area Manager that the proposal was to be determined on its own merits, by reference to the Development Plan and other material considerations and should not be compared to the former application at Agenda item 7, a motion to **REFUSE** the officer's recommendation to **GRANT** planning permission as recommended, was proposed by Cllr Toni Coombs, and seconded by Cllr Carole Jones.

**Decision:** To refuse the officer's recommendation for approval subject to the following reasons:

The proposed layout would result in the urbanisation of the area due to the
extent of the uninterrupted liner parking along the sites frontage, which
would provide insufficient landscaping, and would fail to make a positive
contribution towards the environment, and the appearance of the area,
contrary to Policy SFDH5 of the Shaftesbury Neighbourhood Plan, Policy 24
of the North Dorset Local Plan, and the NPPF.

# 68. P/FUL/2023/04880 - Shillingstone Station, Station Road, Shillingstone, Blandford Forum, DT11 0SA

The Case Officer updated the members on the following:

 An additional representation had been received. This raised questions as to the justification & need for the proposed car park, taking into consideration existing parking facilities and that passenger trips on the North Dorset Railway would not be available for many years. The justification & need for the scheme had been considered by Officers when bringing forward the recommendation.

With the aid of a visual presentation including plans and aerial photographs, the Case Officer identified the site and explained the proposal and relevant planning policies to members. Photographs of the proposed site layout, new access, and

views from the existing trailway and AONB were shown. The officer's presentation provided details of pedestrian links, screening, and existing and proposed number of parking spaces. Members were informed of the proposed landscaping and biodiversity mitigation and enhancements on the site. As well as this, the Case Officer discussed site flood risks but assured members that the benefits of the proposal outweighed the risk. Natural England confirmed that they are happy in principle with the mitigation & compensation measures secured in the Biodiversity Plan, subject to the assessment in the "planning balance" that the benefit of the scheme outweighs the biodiversity loss. Details of the surfacing materials and management of the site were provided. The recommendation was for approval subject to conditions set out in the report.

#### **Public Participation**

Mr Jenkins spoke in support to the proposal. He highlighted that the site was run by volunteers which focused on restoring railways heritage using museums and restoration of buildings. He also drew attention to the number of visits and work experience opportunities which were made available to local visitors. Mr Jenkins discussed that the existing parking land would soon no longer be available and would therefore put the future of the progression of the trailway at risk. He informed members of their plans for extension and had consulted with residents to find a suitable solution. Mr Jenkins hoped members would support the officer's recommendation.

Mr Giles made a short representation, highlighting the views of Mr Jenkins and felt as though he had nothing further to add.

#### Members questions and comments

- Questions regarding mitigation of wildlife park.
- Members were really pleased with the proposal and were happy to grant.

Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application and an understanding of all this entailed; having considered the officer's report and presentation; the written representatives; and what they had heard at the meeting, a motion to **APPROVE** the officer's recommendation to **GRANT** planning permission, subject to conditions, as recommended, was proposed by Cllr Les Fry, and seconded by Cllr Carole Jones.

**Decision:** To grant the officer's recommendation for approval, subject to conditions set out in the officer's report.

# 69. P/FUL/2023/01342 - Land and Buildings North Of Cutlers Close Sydling St Nicholas

With the aid of a visual presentation including plans and aerial photographs, the Case Officer identified the site and explained the proposal and relevant planning

policies to members. Members were informed that the site was within but did not harm the settlement boundary. Photographs of views which looked toward the site, existing building, proposed site plan and street scenes were provided. Details of the proposed materials which included brick, clay tiles and boarding were discussed as well impacts on the AONB and nearby listed buildings as well as lack of public transport to and from the site. The proposal did not have the inclusion of affordable housing and was susceptible to flooding. In conclusion, the Case Officer confirmed that the proposal caused less than substantial harm to the conservation area and the recommendation was to refuse planning permission.

#### **Public Participation**

The local councillor made a representation in objection to the proposal. He felt as though the proposal was an overdevelopment and highlight the lack of public transport and if granted, the strong reliance on private vehicles. Cllr Shears wasn't satisfied with the development and discussed issues regarding flooding and groundwater levels. The proposal would have increased flood risks and pollution in the local area. In addition to this, the local council also felt that additional dwellings would have only added additional pressures to the sewage system. Parking impacts on pedestrian safety and dwelling designs were also discussed. Cllr Shears was disappointed that there was a lack of affordable housing and an unsustainable location. He hoped members would refuse planning permission.

#### Members questions and comments

• There were no questions or comments.

Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application and an understanding of all this entailed; having considered the officer's report and presentation; the written representatives; and what they had heard at the meeting, a motion to **APPROVE** the officer's recommendation to **REFUSE** planning permission as recommended, was proposed by Cllr Valerie Pothecry, and seconded by Cllr Stella Jones.

**Decision:** To grant the officer's recommendation for refusal.

# 70. P/RES/2023/03735 - Land at E373160 N117864 Pond Walk Stalbridge DT10 2PY

With the aid of a visual presentation including plans and aerial photographs, the Case Officer identified the site and explained the proposal and relevant planning policies to members. Images of the site identified nearby listed buildings and public footpaths. Photographs of the existing site, eastern and northern boundaries, proposed floor plans, garages and elevations were also included. Members were also informed that the site was within the conservation area and were provided with details of the site entrance, proposed materials and the location and landscape plan. The Case Officer also discussed the change in scale of buildings to reduce impacts on the nearby listed building. Details regarding the

protection of the Chestnut Tree on site were also provided. The recommendation was to grant subject to conditions set out in the officer's report.

## **Public Participation**

The applicant thanked the officers for their comprehensive report and was pleased with the recommendation that was before committee. Mr Moir explained that the proposal would have been situated in an already established development and assured members that he had engaged with Stalbridge town council, the local ward member, and the allotment society. He referred to policy 25 of the local plan and highlighted the distance from protected trees. Mr Moir emphasised the need for family housing and hoped the committee would support the officer's recommendation.

## Members questions and comments

- Clarification regarding renewable energy sources.
- Questions regarding maintenance of public footpaths.
- Benefits the local community.

Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application and an understanding of all this entailed; having considered the officer's report and presentation; the written representatives; and what they had heard at the meeting, a motion to **APPROVE** the officer's recommendation to **GRANT** planning permission as recommended, was proposed by Cllr Tim Cook, and seconded by Cllr Les Fry,

**Decision:** To grant the officer's recommendation for approval subject to conditions set out in the officer's report.

# 71. P/RES/2022/04960 - West of Shaftesbury Road (Land on Ham Farm), Land South of Gillingham, Shaftesbury Road, Gillingham

The Case Officer updated the members of the correction of a typo error from paragraph 15.3 from within the report.

With the aid of a visual presentation including plans and aerial photographs, the Case Officer identified the site and explained the proposal and relevant planning policies to members. Photographs of the site along with the illustrative masterplan and proposed street scenes were shown. Details of the number of proposed dwellings, affordable housing, proposed phasing plan, housing mix, parking and building materials were discussed. Members were reminded of the existing Outline approval and the more recently approved 34 dwelling site and public open space to the north of the current proposal. The Case Officer also informed members of the strategic allocation plan, proposed LEAP, traffic calming measures which had received no objections raised by highways. The proposal complied in accordance with the local plan for Gillingham. The recommendation was to grant conditional

planning permission subject to the completion of a Section 106 legal agreement signed within six months of a Committee resolution to grant. If the S106 was not signed within that time, then the application would be refused unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Head of Planning.

#### **Public Participation**

The agent made a representation to committee, outlining the continued hard work on the proposed site and thanked the officers for their work. Mr Jackson highlighted that the principal of development had already been consented and the application would have provided 108 homes with the inclusion of affordable housing. In addition to this, the agent also discussed open space throughout the site, tree planting and site connections. Mr Jackson felt as though the proposal was compliant and represented a good sustainable development which had many benefits. He hoped members would support the officer's recommendation.

#### Members questions and comments

- Disappointed with the lack of affordable housing provision across the site.
- Questions regarding limitations to water consumption.
- Clarification regarding local amenities.
- Clarification regarding maintenance of the highway.
- Members were pleased to see the provision of heat source pumps but were disappointed that there was no inclusion of solar panels.
- Waste collection
- Clarification regarding Dorset Council's updated Sustainability Checklist.
- Comments regarding development being at adoptive standards.
- Additional condition to secure water efficiency measures including rainwater harvesting.

Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application and an understanding of all this entailed; having considered the officer's report and presentation; the written representatives; and what they had heard at the meeting, a motion to **APPROVE** the officer's recommendation to **GRANT** planning permission as recommended, was proposed by Cllr Valerie Pothecry, and seconded by Cllr Les Fry, subject to conditions set out in the officer's report and an additional condition to secure water efficiency measures including rainwater harvesting that prior to the commencement of development above damp course level, details of measures to limit the water use of the dwellings, including rainwater harvesting, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved measures shall be implemented prior to occupation and maintained in accordance with the approved details thereafter.

Reason: To minimise the impacts of climate change from water consumption arising from the development as required by Policy 3 of the North Dorset Local Plan Part 1 2016.

**Decision:** To grant the officer's recommendation for approval, subject to conditions set out in the officer's report and the additional condition to secure water efficiency measures.

# 72. P/RES/2023/00628 - West of Shaftesbury Road (Land on Ham Farm), Land South of Gillingham, Shaftesbury Road, Gillingham

With the aid of a visual presentation including plans and aerial photographs, the Case Officer identified the site and explained the proposal and relevant planning policies to members. Photographs of the proposed access and views towards the site were shown. Members were provided with details of the location plan, approved illustrative masterplan, and were reminded of the existing approved dwellings. The officer's presentation also provided context regarding phasing plans. The recommendation was to grant subject to conditions set out in the officer's report.

#### **Public Participation**

The applicant withdrew his request to speak.

### Members questions and comments

Surface water drainage.

Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application and an understanding of all this entailed; having considered the officer's report and presentation; the written representatives; and what they had heard at the meeting, a motion to **APPROVE** the officer's recommendation to **GRANT** planning permission, subject to conditions, as recommended, was proposed by Cllr Les Fry, and seconded by Cllr David Taylor.

**Decision:** To grant the officer's recommendation for approval subject to conditions set out in the officer's report.

# 73. P/LBC/2023/00884 - Crockers Farm, Crockers Farm Lane, Twyford, Dorset, SP7 0JF

With the aid of a visual presentation including plans and aerial photographs, the Case Officer identified the site and explained the proposal and relevant planning policies to members. Images of the site and photographs of the existing and proposed elevations were shown. Members were informed that the site was situated on a working farm which was not within the conservation area but was situated on an area of special scientific interest. The Case Officer discussed the conditions regarding bat boxes and nesting birds and outlined the recommendation which was to grant subject to conditions set out in the officer's report.

#### **Public Participation**

There was no public participation.

#### Members questions and comments

• There were no questions or comments.

Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application and an understanding of all this entailed; having considered the officer's report and presentation; the written representatives; and what they had heard at the meeting, a motion to **APPROVE** the officer's recommendation to **GRANT** planning permission as recommended, was proposed by Cllr Toni Coombs, and seconded by Cllr Carole Jones.

**Decision:** To grant the officer's recommendation for approval.

#### 74. Urgent items

There were no urgent items.

## 75. Exempt Business

There was no exempt business.

**Decision Sheet** 

Chairman		

Duration of meeting: 10.00 am - 4.15 pm



# **Appendix**

Northern Area Planning Committee Tuesday 5<sup>th</sup> March 2024 Decision List

**Application Reference:** P/FUL/2021/04205

Application Site: Saxon Maybank East Farm Grain Mills Bradford Abbas Sherborne

DT9 6JN

**Proposal:** Station 3 holiday lodges and install a package treatment plant and associated works.

**Recommendation:** Delegate authority to the Head of Planning and the Service Manager for Development Management and Enforcement to:

- A) Grant planning permission subject to conditions and subject to the completion of a legal agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), in a form to be agreed by the legal services manager to secure landscaping.
- B) Refuse to grant planning permission if a legal agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) is not completed by 05/09/2024 or such extended time as agreed by the Head of Planning.

Decision: Refuse planning permission for the following reasons:

- 1. Insufficient drainage information has been provided to demonstrate that the site would be appropriately drained, taking account of surface water, and with the surrounding agricultural land being sited at a higher gradient.
- 2. The proposal would result in an adverse impact on the amenity of unit 11 through sharing an overbearing relationship which would result in a reduced level of amenity afforded to the living areas of unit 11, contrary to policy ENV.16 of the West Dorset and Weymouth Local Plan.

**Application Reference:** P/FUL/2023/05314

Application Site: Land at Mampits Lane, Shaftesbury, SP7 8GL

**Proposal:** Erection of Community Centre with associated parking & landscaping.

**Recommendation:** GRANT subject to conditions.

Decision: Grant, subject to the following conditions:

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission.

Reason: This condition is required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans:

Site Plan

P2144/04 – proposed elevations

P2144/03 – proposed floor plans

P2144/05 – proposed roof plan

BE 01 4F – landscape plan

BE 01 5 - Block Plan

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

- 3. Before the development hereby approved commences a Construction Method Statement (CMS) must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The CMS must include:
  - the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
  - loading and unloading of plant and materials
  - storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
  - delivery, demolition and construction working hours

The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period for the development.

Reason: To minimise the likely impact of construction traffic on the surrounding highway network.

4. Prior to commencement of development, a Landscape Management Plan, including long term design objectives, management responsibilities, maintenance schedules and a timetable for implementation and/or phasing; for all landscape areas shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the Landscape Management Plan shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To ensure that due regard is paid to the continuing enhancement and maintenance of amenity afforded by landscape features of communal, public, nature conservation or historical significance.

5. Prior to the commencement of development a detailed surface water management scheme for the site, based upon the hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development, and providing clarification of how drainage is to be managed during construction and a timetable for implementation of the scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The surface water scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details including the timetable for implementation.

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding and to protect water quality.

6. No works or development shall take place before a scheme for the protection of the existing tress and hedges shown on approved tree plans TCP-2 7 TPP1 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the the local planning authority. Such a scheme will comply with the provisions of BS58372005 (Trees in relation to construction) or any replacement standard that may be in force at thethat the development commences. The approved scheme for the protection of the existing trees shall be implemented before development commences and be maintained in full until the development has been completed.

Reason: To ensure that trees and hedges to be retained are adequately protected from damage to health and stability throughout the construction period and in the interests of amenity

7. The detailed biodiversity mitigation, compensation and enhancement/net gain strategy set out within the approved Biodiversity Plan or Landscape Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) certified by the Dorset Council Natural Environment Team on 02.11.2023 must be strictly adhered to during the carrying out of the development.

The development hereby approved must not be first brought into use unless and until:

- i) the mitigation, compensation and enhancement/net gain measures detailed in the approved biodiversity plan or LEMP have been completed in full, unless any modifications to the approved Biodiversity Plan or LEMP as a result of the requirements of a European Protected Species Licence have first been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and
- ii) evidence of compliance in accordance with section J of the approved Biodiversity Plan/the LEMP has been supplied to the Local Planning Authority.

Thereafter the approved mitigation, compensation and enhancement/net gain measures must be permanently maintained and retained in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To mitigate, compensate and enhance/provide net gain for impacts on biodiversity.

8. Before the development is occupied or utilised the first 5.00 metres of each vehicular access, measured from the rear edge of the highway, must be laid out and constructed to a specification submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that a suitably surfaced and constructed access to the site is provided that prevents loose material being dragged and/or deposited onto the adjacent carriageway causing a safety hazard.

9. Before the development hereby approved is occupied or utilised the turning/manoeuvring and parking shown on Drawing Number BE/10/5 rev 1 must have been constructed. Thereafter, these areas, must be permanently maintained, kept free from obstruction and available for the purposes specified.

Reason: To ensure the proper and appropriate development of the site and to ensure that highway safety is not adversely impacted upon.

10. Before the development is occupied or utilised the cycle parking facilities shown on Drawing Number BE/10/5 must have been constructed. Thereafter, these must be maintained, kept free from obstruction and available for the purposes specified.

Reason: To ensure the proper construction of the parking facilities and to encourage the use of sustainable transport modes.

11. No works or development shall take place before a scheme for the protection of the existing tress and hedges shown on approved tree plans TCP-2 7 TPP1 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the the local planning authority. Such a scheme will comply with the provisions of BS58372005 (Trees in relation to construction) or any replacement standard that may be in force at the that the

development commences. The approved scheme for the protection of the existing trees shall be implemented before development commences and be maintained in full until the development has been completed. 12. Prior to development above dampproof course level, details (including colour photographs) of all external facing materials for the wall(s) and roof(s) shall have been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall proceed in accordance with such materials as have been agreed.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance of the development.

12. Details including layout of toddlers play area including specification of equipment; and details of the gazebo including an elevational plan shall be submitted for approval by the LPA prior to the installation of the equipment. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: in the interest of health and safety.

13. Prior to development above damp proof course level, a hard and soft landscape scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority showing details of all trees and other planting to be retained; a planting specification and plan to include numbers, size, species, positions of all new trees and shrubs; details of existing and proposed levels, walls, fences and other boundary treatments and surface treatments of the open parts of the site; details of any structures, street furniture, lighting and play equipment; and a programme of implementation.

Reason: to ensure the adequate mitigation of the landscape and visual impact of the proposals and the provision of an appropriate hard and soft landscape scheme prior to the commencement of the development.

14. Hard and Soft Landscape Implementation (pre-commencement)

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the use of the site or in accordance with a programme agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: to ensure that the agreed hard and soft landscape scheme is implemented.

15. Hard and Soft Landscaping Maintenance to Completion (compliance)

Any trees or other plants indicated in the approved scheme which, within a period of five years from the date of the development being completed, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced (and if necessary continue to be replaced) during the next planting season with other trees or plants of a species and size to be first approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Hard landscape features will be maintained in perpetuity.

Reason: to ensure that the agreed hard and soft landscaping scheme is established and maintained.

#### Informative Notes:

1. Informative: National Planning Policy Framework Statement

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused on providing sustainable development.

The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:

- offering a pre-application advice service, and processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions.

#### In this case:

- The applicant/agent was updated of any issues and provided with the opportunity to address issues identified by the case officer.

**Application Reference:** P/FUL/2023/06670

**Application Site:** Land At Mampits Lane Shaftesbury

Proposal: Change of use of land and erect community hub/cafe building with offices

over, form vehicular access, car parking and associated public amenity park.

**Recommendation:** GRANT subject to conditions.

#### Decision, refuse for the following reason:

The proposed layout would result in the urbanisation of the area due to the extent
of the uninterrupted liner parking along the sites frontage, which would provide
insufficient landscaping, and would fail to make a positive contribution towards the
environment, and the appearance of the area, contrary to Policy SFDH5 of the
Shaftesbury Neighbourhood Plan, Policy 24 of the North Dorset Local Plan, and
the NPPF.

**Application Reference:** P/FUL/2023/04880

**Application Site:** Shillingstone Station, Station Road Shillingstone Blandford Forum

DT11 0SA

Proposal: Carry out engineering and landscaping works to create a car park and

vehicular access for use by North Dorset Railway.

**Recommendation:** GRANT subject to conditions

Decision: Grant, subject to the following conditions:

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission.

Reason: This condition is required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans:

PA/PSCP/001 Location plan

PA/RSCP/02 Block plan/land use

PA/RSCP/03 Sequential test plan

PA/RSCP/04 Access arrangements

PA/RSCP/05 Block plan & general arrangement

PA/RSCP/06 Landscaping proposals

PA/RSCP/07 Construction methodology & environmental management plan

PA/RSCP/08 Flood risk assessment & management plan

PA/RSCP/09 Ecology & biodiversity plan

PA/RSCP/10 Pedestrian connection between trailway & car park

PA/RSCP/11 Tree survey plan

PA/RSCP/12 Car park cross section & contours

PA/RSCP/08 Flood Management Plan

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. Before the development is occupied or utilised the first 5.00 metres of the vehicle access, measured from the rear edge of the highway (excluding the vehicle crossing - see the Informative Note below), must be laid out and constructed to a specification submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that a suitably surfaced and constructed access to the site is provided that prevents loose material being dragged and/or deposited onto the adjacent carriageway causing a safety hazard.

- 4. Prior to the commencement of development on the site, a Construction Management Plan (CMP) addressing both Biodiversity, Plant, Materials & Traffic Management, must be submitted to and approved in writing by the local Planning Authority. The CMP must include the following:
  - Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities
  - Identification of "biodiversity protection zones" (inc use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs)
  - Parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
  - Storage of plant and materials & details of loading & unloading
  - Delivery and construction working hours
  - The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features
  - Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements).

- The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works.
- Responsible persons and lines of communication.
- The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly competent person.

Thereafter the scheme shall proceed in strict accordance with the approved CMP.

Reason: To protect biodiversity during the construction phase and to minimise the likely impact of construction traffic on the surrounding highway network.

5. The detailed biodiversity mitigation, compensation and enhancement/net gain strategy set out within the approved Biodiversity Plan certified by the Dorset Council Natural Environment Team on 18.09.2023 must be implemented in accordance with any specified timetable and completed in full (including photographic evidence of compliance being submitted to the Local Planning Authority in accordance with section J of the Biodiversity Plan) prior to the substantial completion, or the first bringing into use of the development hereby approved, whichever is the sooner. The development shall subsequently be implemented entirely in accordance with the approved details and the mitigation, compensation and enhancement/net gain measures shall be permanently maintained and retained.

Reason: To mitigate, compensate and enhance/provide net gain for impacts on biodiversity.

6. Before first use of the car park hereby approved, the vehicular entrance barriers as shown on approved plan PA/RSCP/10 shall be installed and fully operational, and thereafter maintained in perpetuity in such condition so as to be able to prevent unauthorised access. The car park hereby approved shall be operated in accordance with Report No.3 Flood Risk Assessment and Management Plan and may only be open & accessible for parking on days when the North Dorset Railway heritage site is open to the public and/or volunteers. The barriers must be locked & secured no later than 10pm on any day.

Reason: In the interests of amenity of the area and to protect people & property from impacts of flooding

7. The parking hereby approved shall be constructed, managed, and operated in strict accordance with the layout shown on approved plan PA/RSCP/08 Version 3 and detailed in Report No.3 Flood Risk Assessment and Management Plan, and "Supplementary Statement on behalf of North Dorset Railway" dated December 2023 and Report No.4 Construction Methodology and Environmental Management Plan.

Reason: in the interests of visual amenity and reduce risk of flooding

8. Before the development hereby approved is occupied or utilised the turning/manoeuvring and parking shown on Drawing Number PA/RSCP/05 must have been constructed. Thereafter, these areas, must be permanently maintained, kept free from obstruction and available for the purposes specified.

Reason: To ensure the proper and appropriate development of the site and to ensure that highway safety is not adversely impacted upon.

9. Before the development hereby approved is occupied or utilised any entrance gates must be set back a minimum distance of 5.00 metres from the edge of the carriageway and hung so that the gates can only open inwards. Thereafter, the gates must be retained at their approved position, maintained and kept free from obstruction.

Reason: To enable a vehicle to be parked clear of the public highway whilst the gates are opened or closed, preventing possible interruption to the free flow of traffic

10.Before the development hereby approved is occupied or utilised the visibility splay areas as shown on Drawing Number PA/RSCP/05 must be cleared/excavated to a level not exceeding 0.60 metres above the relative level of the adjacent carriageway. The splay areas must thereafter be maintained and kept free from all obstructions.

Reason: To ensure that a vehicle can see or be seen when exiting the access.

11. The scheme shall proceed in strict accordance with the Construction Methodology and Environmental Management Plan (Report No.4)

Reason: in the interests of amenity, and to protect Biodiversity interests

12. The soft landscaping works detailed on approved drawing PA/RSCP/06 and as described in the approved Biodiversity Plan certified by the Dorset Council Natural Environment Team on 18.09.2023 and Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (Report No.5) must be carried out in full during the first planting season (November to March) following commencement of the development or within a timescale to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The soft landscaping shall be maintained in accordance with the agreed details and any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development, die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory landscaping of the site and enhance the biodiversity, visual amenity, and character of the area.

#### **Informative Notes:**

Informative: National Planning Policy Framework Statement
 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused on providing sustainable development.

The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:

- offering a pre-application advice service, and
- as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions.

In this case:

- The applicant/agent was updated of any issues and provided with the opportunity to address issues identified by the case officer.

### 2. INFORMATIVE NOTE: Dorset Highways

The vehicle crossing serving this proposal (that is, the area of highway land between the nearside carriageway edge and the site's road boundary) must be constructed to the specification of the Highway Authority in order to comply with Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980. The applicant should contact Dorset Highways by telephone at 01305 221020, by email at dorsethighways@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk, or in writing at Dorset Highways, Dorset Council, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ, before the commencement of any works on or adjacent to the public highway.

The applicant is reminded of their responsibility to submit photographic evidence of compliance with the Biodiversity Plan or LEMP to Dorset Natural Environment Team in order to comply fully with requirements of condition 05.

**Application Reference:** P/FUL/2023/01342

Application Site: Land And Buildings North of Cutlers Close Sydling St Nicholas

**Proposal:** Demolish agricultural buildings and erect 3 No. dwellings with garages.

Form new vehicular access.

**Recommendation: REFUSE** 

Decision: Refuse permission for the reasons set out below:

1. Having regard to the site's location outside of any settlement boundary and distant from facilities and services, occupants of the dwellings would be likely to rely upon private motorised vehicles to access facilities and services elsewhere; as such, the proposed development would have a significant, negative impact on the environment and represents an unsustainable form of development. There is no overriding need to allow dwellings in this location nor does the application present a re-use of existing buildings, provide essential rural workers dwellings, or an affordable housing scheme. As such, it is

contrary to the provisions of Policy SUS2 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan 2015 and advice contained within the NPPF.

- 2.By virtue of its residential character and layout, the proposal represents an undesirable form of development in this edge of village location, to the detriment of the character and appearance of the conservation area. The proposal is therefore contrary to policy ENV4 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan 2015 and advice contained within the NPPF.
- 3. By virtue of its residential character and layout, the proposal represents an undesirable form of development in this edge of village location, to the detriment of the setting of the Dorset National Landscape. The proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to policy ENV1 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan 2015 and advice contained within the NPPF.
- 4. The site is within the nutrient catchment area of Poole Harbour which is designated as a Special Protection Area under the Habitat Regulations 2017. Poole Harbour is also designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and a Ramsar site. Natural England has advised that the harbour is Phosphate limited which means that any addition of phosphate either directly or indirectly should be deemed to have an adverse impact on the site's integrity in accordance with recent case law.

The applicant has failed to evidence nutrient neutrality to demonstrate no adverse effects in combination with other plans or projects, on the designated site of nature conservation. In the absence of this information, and until demonstrated otherwise, the precautionary principle must prevail in favour of nature conservation. The proposal fails to comply with the provisions of the Habitats Regulations 2017, Policy ENV2 of the adopted West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan 2015 and the NPPF.

5. Having regard to the site's partial location within an area susceptible to groundwater flooding, the applicant has failed to demonstrate that the proposed development is acceptable in terms of flood risk. As such, the proposal is contrary to policy ENV5 of the West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland Local Plan 2015 and the NPPF.

#### **Informative Notes:**

The plans that were considered by the Council in making this decision are:
 6360-05 North and South (courtyard) elevations

6360-07 Street Scene - Back Lane

6360-01 Floor plan

6360-02 First floor plans

6360-03 South & East elevations

6360-04 Proposed West and North elevations.

6360-09 Location plan

6360-06 Site plan

### 2. National Planning Policy Framework

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused on providing sustainable development. The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:

- offering a pre-application advice service, and -
- as appropriate updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions.

In this case:

- -The applicant was advised that the proposal did not accord with the development plan and that there were no material planning considerations to outweigh these concerns.
- 3. If planning permission is subsequently granted for this development at appeal, it will be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) introduced by the Town and Country Planning Act 2008. A CIL liability notice will then be issued by the Council that requires a financial payment, full details of which will be explained in the notice.

**Application Reference:** P/RES/2023/03735

Application Site: Land at E373160 N117864 Pond Walk Stalbridge DT10 2PY

**Proposal:** Erect 9 No. dwellings. (Reserved matters application to determine access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale, following the grant of Outline Planning Permission No. 2/2018/0372/OUT).

**Recommendation:** GRANT, subject to conditions

Decision: Grant approval of the reserved matters, subject to conditions.

1. The development to which these reserved matters and accompanying details relate shall be begun not later than two years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans:

```
9719/100 C Location Plan
9719/101 L Proposed Site Plan
9719/102 G Plot 1 - Proposed Floor Plans & Elevations
9719/103 G Plot 2 - Proposed Floor Plans & Elevations
9719/104 G Plot 3 - Proposed Floor Plans & Elevations
9719/105 F Plot 4 - Proposed Floor Plans & Elevations
9719/106 F Plot 5 - Proposed Floor Plans & Elevations
9719/107 F Plot 6 - Proposed Floor Plans & Elevations
9719/108 F Plot 7 - Proposed Floor Plans & Elevations
9719/109 F Plot 8 - Proposed Floor Plans & Elevations
9719/110 F Plot 9 - Proposed Floor Plans & Elevations
9719/111 D Proposed Garages
RNapc/439/TPP 3 Tree Protection Plan
5930/302 D Proposed Highway Entrance Details
391-2 R4 Planting Plan
391-3 R4 Tree Plan
391-1 R5 Landscape Plan
```

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. The detailed biodiversity mitigation, compensation and enhancement/net gain strategy set out within the approved Biodiversity Plan or Landscape Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) certified by the Dorset Council Natural Environment Team on 12/12/2023 must be implemented in accordance with any specified timetable and completed in full (including photographic evidence of compliance being submitted to the Local Planning Authority in accordance with section J of the Biodiversity Plan/ the LEMP) prior to the substantial completion, or the first bringing into use of the development hereby approved, whichever is the sooner. The development shall subsequently be implemented entirely in accordance with the approved details and the mitigation, compensation and enhancement/net gain measures shall be permanently maintained and retained.

Reason: To mitigate, compensate and enhance/provide net gain for impacts on biodiversity.

4. The external facing materials for the walls and roofs of the development hereby approved shall be in accordance with the details listed on the approved plans

and further detailed within the Materials Schedule (Rev 3), submitted on 04/12/2023

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance of the development.

5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and reenacting that Order) (with or without modification) no enlargement(s) or alterations of the dwellinghouse hereby approved, permitted by Class A, Class B or Class C of Schedule 2 Part 1 of the 2015 Order, shall be erected or constructed.

Reason: To protect amenity and the character of the area.

6. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and reenacting that Order) (with or without modification) no garages, sheds or other outbuildings permitted by Class E of Schedule 2 Part 1 of the 2015 Order shall be erected or constructed.

Reason: To protect amenity and the character of the area.

7. The development hereby approved shall proceed only in accordance with the details set out in the Arboricultural Method Statement dated 15/11/2023 setting out how the existing trees are to be protected and managed before, during and after development.

Reason: To ensure thorough consideration of the impacts of development on the existing trees

8. The soft landscaping works detailed on approved drawing 391-1-R5 must be carried out in full during the first planting season (November to March) following commencement of the development or within a timescale to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The soft landscaping shall be maintained in accordance with the agreed details and any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced (and if necessary, continue to be replaced) in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory landscaping of the site and enhance the biodiversity, visual amenity and character of the area.

9. All hard landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved drawing numbered 391-1-R5. No part of the development shall be occupied until work has been completed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

10. Prior to their installation detailed drawings and specifications showing the design and construction of external doors and windows (at a scale no less than 1:10) shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and agreed in writing. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed details.

Reason: To preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the conservation area.

#### **Informative Notes:**

 National Planning Policy Framework Statement
 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused on providing sustainable development.

The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:

- offering a pre-application advice service, and
- as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions.

In this case:

- The applicant/agent was updated of any issues and provided with the opportunity to address issues identified by the case officer.
- 2. The applicant is reminded of their responsibility to submit photographic evidence of compliance with the Biodiversity Plan or LEMP to Dorset Natural Environment Team in order to comply fully with requirements of condition 3.
- 3. The Council's Environmental Health team advises the following (see consultation response on Council's website, dated 17/07/2023):

The Construction Method Statement (CMS) required to discharge condition 11 of the associated outline permission should set out steps to manage any possible adverse effects associated with the development, to include protection of nearby receptors from dust arising from construction and vehicle movements and storage of waste materials prior to removal from site. The CMS should also include mitigation measures to reduce noise during the build.

4. The free passage of the public on all rights of way must not be obstructed at any time. If the public are unlikely to be able to exercise their rights on the public footpath (N51/4) adjoining the proposed development, then a Temporary Path Closure Order must be obtained. This can be applied for through the Council's Rights of Way team, but the application must be completed and returned at least thirteen weeks before the intended closure date. It should be noted that there is a fee applicable to this application.

**Application Reference:** P/RES/2022/04960

Application Site: West Of Shaftesbury Road (Land on Ham Farm), Land South of

Gillingham, Shaftesbury Road, Gillingham

**Proposal:** Erection of 108 dwellings and associated infrastructure including informal and formal public open space pursuant, (reserved matters application to determine access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale) following the grant of outline planning permission 2/2018/0036/OUT.

**Recommendation:** Grant conditional planning permission subject to the completion of a Section 106 legal agreement signed within six months of a Committee resolution to grant. If the S106 is not signed within that time period, then the application shall be refused unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Head of Planning.

Decision: Delegate authority to the Head of Planning and the Service Manager for Development Management and Enforcement to:

A) Approve of Reserved Matters, subject to the completion of a Unilateral Undertaking under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning act 1990 (as amended) in a form to be agreed by the legal services manager to secure the great crested newt conservation payment of £113,659.63 – required as part of the Great Crested Newt District Licence requirements for the whole of the Outline approved Ham Farm site.

Or,

B) Refuse, if the s106 Agreement is not completed within 6 months of the date of decision or such extended time as agreed by the Head of Planning.

#### **Conditions:**

**1.** The development to which these reserved matters and accompanying details relates shall be begun not later than two years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

- **2.** The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans:
- Learnington floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 18 Rev A)
- Learnington floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 19 Rev A)
- Stratford floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 20 Rev A)
- Stratford floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 21 Rev A)
- Windsor floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 22 Rev A)
- Windsor floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 23 Rev A)
- Marlow floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 25 Rev A)
- Oxford floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 26 Rev A)
- Cambridge floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 28 Rev A)

- Shaftesbury floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 30 Rev A)
- Harrogate floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 33 Rev A)
- Harrogate floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 34 Rev A)
- Hampstead floor plans (Drawing No. A1023 38 Rev A)
- Hampstead elevations (Drawing No. A1023 39 Rev A)
- Hampstead elevations (Drawing No. A1023 40 Rev A)
- Single garage floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 46)
- Double garage floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 47)
- Overton floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 50 Rev A)
- Letchworth floor plans (Drawing No. A1023 61 Rev A)
- Letchworth elevations (Drawing No. A1023 62 Rev A)
- Letchworth elevations (Drawing No. A1023 63 Rev A)
- Letchworth floor plans (Drawing No. A1023 64 Rev A)
- Letchworth elevations (Drawing No. A1023 66 Rev A)
- Letchworth floor plans (Drawing No. A1023 67 Rev A)
- Letchworth elevations (Drawing No. A1023 68 Rev A)
- Letchworth floor plans (Drawing No. A1023 69 Rev A)
- Letchworth elevations (Drawing No. A1023 70 Rev A)
- Learnington floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 71 Rev A)
- Stratford floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 72 Rev A)
- Stratford floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 73 Rev A)
- Lincoln floor plans (Drawing No. A1023 74 Rev A)
- Lincoln elevations (Drawing No. A1023 75 Rev A)
- Overton floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 76 Rev A)
- Cambridge floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 77 Rev A)
- Shaftesbury floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 78 Rev A)
- Henley floor plans (Drawing No. A1023 79 Rev A)
- Henley elevations (Drawing No. A1023 80 Rev A)
- Highgate floor plans (Drawing No. A1023 81 Rev A)
- Highgate elevations (Drawing No. A1023 82 Rev A)

- Grantham floor plans (Drawing No. A1023 84 Rev A)
- Grantham elevations (Drawing No. A1023 85 Rev A)
- Grantham elevations (Drawing No. A1023 86 Rev A)
- Grantham floor plans (Drawing No. A1023 87 Rev A)
- Harrogate floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 87 Rev A)
- Grantham elevations (Drawing No. A1023 88 Rev A)
- Tavy floor plans (Drawing No. A1023 88 Rev A)
- Tavy elevations (Drawing No. A1023 89 Rev A)
- Dart and Spey floor plans (Drawing No. A1023 90 Rev A)
- Dart and Spey elevations (Drawing No. A1023 91 Rev A)
- Double garage floor plans and elevations (Drawing No. A1023 92)
- Highway Longitudinal Sections Sheet 1 (Drawing No. A409-RM1-15 Rev A)
- Highway Longitudinal Sections Sheet 2 (Drawing No. A409-RM1-16 Rev A)
- Highway Longitudinal Sections Sheet 3 (Drawing No. A409-RM1-17 Rev A)
- Highway Longitudinal Sections Sheet 4 (Drawing No. A409-RM1-18 Rev B)
- Drainage Construction Details Sheet 1 (Drawing No. A409-RM1-55 Rev A)
- Drainage Construction Details Sheet 2 (Drawing No. A409-RM1-56 Rev A)
- Drainage Construction Details Sheet 1 (Drawing No. A409-RM1-57 Rev A)
- Drainage Construction Details Sheet 1 (Drawing No. A409-RM1-58 Rev A) (all received on 10<sup>th</sup> October 2023)
- Materials Plan (Drawing No. A1023 01 Rev F)
- Occupancy Plan (Drawing No. A1023 05 Rev F)
- Massing Plan (Drawing No. A1023 06 Rev F)
- Tenure Plan (Drawing No. A1023 07 Rev F)
- Parking Plan (Drawing No. A1023 09 Rev F)
- Refuse Plan (Drawing No. A1023 10 Rev F)
- Street Scenes (Drawing No. A1023 56 Rev E)
- General Arrangement (Drawing No. A409-RM1-0 Rev C)
- Engineering Layout (Drawing No. A409-RM-41 Rev C)

- Drainage Layout (Drawing No. A409-RM1-51 Rev D)
- Highways Materials Layout (Drawing No. A409-RM1-71 Rev C)
- Large Refuse Vehicular Tracking (Drawing No. A409-RM1-81 Rev C)
- Fire Tender Vehicular Tracking (Drawing No. A409-RM1-82 Rev C)
- Standard Car Vehicular Tracking (Drawing No. A409-RM1-83 Rev B)
- Strategic Landscape Masterplan (Drawing No. P22-1067-EN-016 Rev B)
- Concept On-plot Landscape Proposals (Drawing No. P22-1067-EN-017 Rev C) (all received on 27th October 2023)
- Planning Layout (Drawing No. A1023-01 Rev RR)
- Enclosures Plan (Drawing No. A1023-08 Rev G)
- Landscape Proposals Sheet 1-3 (Drawing No. P22-1067-EN-20 Rev C) (all received on 30th January 2024)

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

**3.** All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following first occupation of the development; and any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years from the completion of this phase of the development, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of the amenity and appearance of the location.

**4.** No development shall proceed beyond damp proof course level until full specification details of all external facing materials (including, walls, roofs and fenestration detail) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall proceed in accordance with the approved materials and shall also comply with the approved materials distribution plan (Drawing No. A1071 06 Rev D).

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance of the development.

**5.** Prior to the commencement of the development above damp course level, a scheme showing precise details of all external lighting (including appearance, supporting columns, siting, technical details, power, intensity, orientation and screening of the lamps) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting strategy shall reflect the need to assist public safety whilst also minimising light spill to avoid harm to protected species. The approved scheme shall be implemented before the development is occupied and shall be permanently maintained thereafter. No further external lighting shall be installed on site without the prior approval, in writing, of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of the amenity of the area, public safety, protected species, and biodiversity.

**6.** Before installation of the electrical substation as shown on the approved site plans, a noise assessment shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall include background sound measurements at times the plant will be in operation; a comparison with the operational plant sound level; the likely external noise impact on sensitive receptors in the area, and mitigation to prevent an adverse effect. The assessment shall be undertaken in accordance with BS4142:2014 Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound, and also include penalties for any tonality, impulsivity, or intermittency of the plant.

The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details and the noise attenuation measures shall be retained thereafter.

Reason: In order to protect the living conditions of future occupiers of residential properties.

7. Before installation of any air source heat pumps or similar equipment, a noise report from a suitably qualified/experienced person shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The written report shall follow the BS4142:2014 format and contain details of background sound measurements at times when the plant is likely to be in operation, against the operational plant sound level(s). The report shall predict the likely impact upon sensitive receptors in the area and all calculations, assumptions and standards applied shall be clearly shown. Where appropriate, the report shall set out appropriate measures to provide mitigation to prevent loss of amenity and prevent creeping background noise levels. The agreed mitigation measure shall be fully implemented and permanently retained thereafter.

Reason: In order to protect the living conditions of future occupiers of residential properties.

**8.** Prior to any occupation of development hereby approved, a final Acoustic Design Statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This statement shall demonstrate how occupiers of the approved dwellings will be protected from their noise climate, including anticipated traffic noise and where necessary, noise mitigation measures for the dwellings. Any such noise mitigation measures must be fully established, implemented, and maintained for the lifetime of the development, and avoid.

conflict with ventilation requirements.

Reason: In order to protect the living conditions of future occupiers of residential properties.

**9.** Prior to use or occupation of development hereby approved, a scheme showing details of the proposed cycle parking facilities shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the approved details shall be maintained, kept free from obstruction and available for the purpose specified.

Reason: To ensure provision of adequate cycle parking to support sustainable transport; in the interests of highway safety and residential amenity.

**10.** The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with the detailed biodiversity mitigation, compensation and enhancement/net gain strategy set out within the Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan (RSK Biocensus – Project No. 2483600 Rev 03 20/10/2023).

Reason: To mitigate, compensate and enhance/provide net gain for impacts on biodiversity.

**11.** The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with the details set out in the submitted Stage 1, 2 and 3 Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboriculturally Method Statement Report (RSK Biocensus – Project No. 2483604 Rev 0 31/07/2023). All trees and hedges shown to be retained in the Appendix 5 Tree Protection Plan (Dwg. No. 3 Rev 4 26/07/2023) shall be fully safeguarded during site works and building operations.

Reason: To ensure that trees and hedges to be retained are adequately protected from damage to health and stability throughout the construction period and in the interests of amenity.

**12.** The construction of the development hereby approved shall be limited to between the hours of 07:00hrs – 19:00hrs on Mondays to Fridays, 08:00hrs – 13:00hrs on Saturdays, with no activity on Sundays or Public Holidays.

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the area and living conditions of any surrounding residential properties.

13. Prior to the commencement of the development above damp course level, details of measures to limit the water use of the dwellings, including rainwater harvesting, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved measures shall be implemented prior to occupation and maintained in accordance with the approved details thereafter.

Reason: To minimise the impacts of climate change from water consumption arising from the development as required by Policy 3 of the North Dorset Local Plan Part 1 2016.

Appendix 1 – Details submitted to seek discharge of Condition nos. 7 (Palette of materials), 8 (Updated Arboricultural Impact Assessment), 10 (Landscape Management Plan) & 23 (Landscape and Ecological Management Plan) of Outline Planning Permission No. 2/2018/0036/OUT.

As set out in Paras 6.18-6.20 above, the case officer considers that the proposed external material types are sufficient to discharge Outline Condition 7, given this parcel's context between the Principal Street and the countryside edge. A new condition (No. 4 above) is proposed to secure the precise specifications for these external materials.

Following the submission of an Arboricultural Method Statement, the Council's Tree Officer has confirmed that Condition 8 can be discharged.

Condition 10 requires Reserved Matters to include a landscape management plan, to include long term design objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, other than small, privately owned, domestic gardens. The case officer considers that the landscape management details submitted with this application are sufficient to discharge Condition 10.

Condition 23 requires Reserved Matters to include a landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP). The Council's Landscape Architect and Natural Environment Team has raised no objection to the submitted LEMP for this phase. Condition 23 can therefore be discharged.

A Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) for this parcel has also been submitted to seek discharge of Condition 32. A Biodiversity CEMP has also been provided more recently. This is considered acceptable by the Council's Natural Environment Team and therefore discharges the biodiversity requirements of Condition 32 (Construction Environment Management Plan).

**Application Reference:** P/RES/2023/00628

Application Site: West Of Shaftesbury Road (Land on Ham Farm), Land South of

Gillingham, Shaftesbury Road, Gillingham

**Proposal:** Construct loop road and associated drainage and substation to facilitate future reserved matters applications in line with grant of Outline Planning Permission No. 2/2018/0036/OUT.

**Recommendation:** GRANT subject to conditions

Decision: Recommendation Approval of Reserved Matters, subject to conditions.

#### **Conditions:**

1. The development to which these reserved matters and accompanying details relates shall be begun not later than two years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

- 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans:
- General Arrangement Sheet 1 (Drawing No. A409-PIA-101 Rev D);
- General Arrangement Sheet 2 (Drawing No. A409-PIA-102 Rev D);
- General Arrangement Sheet 1 (Drawing No. A409-PIA-103 Rev E);
- Long Sections Sheet 1 (Drawing No. A409-PIA-111 Rev B);
- Long Sections Sheet 2 (Drawing No. A409-PIA-112 Rev B);
- Long Sections Sheet 3 (Drawing No. A409-PIA-113 Rev B);
- Manhole Schedules Surface Water (Drawing No. A409-PIA-121 Rev B);
- Manhole Schedules Foul Water (Drawing No. A409-PIA-122 Rev B);
- Site Plan (Drawing No. A409-SW-100 Rev C);
- Tree Removal and Protection Plan (Dwg. No. 2 Rev 1)

(all received on 15<sup>th</sup> March 2023)

- Drainage Layouts Sheet 1 (Drawing No. A409-PIA-151 Rev E);
- Drainage Layouts Sheet 2 (Drawing No. A409-PIA-152 Rev E);
- Drainage Layouts Sheet 3 (Drawing No. A409-PIA-153 Rev E);
- Basin Cross Section (Drawing No. A409-SK-11 Rev P2);
- Basin Cross Section (Drawing No. A409-SK-12 Rev P2);
- Drainage Layout Sheet 3 (Drawing No. A409-PIAC-503 Rev C);
- Culvert Catchment Areas (Drawing No. A409-PIA-951 Rev A). (all received on 04<sup>th</sup> May 2023)

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. Prior to the commencement of the development above damp course level, a scheme showing precise details of all external lighting (including appearance, supporting columns, siting, technical details, power, intensity, orientation and screening of the lamps) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting strategy shall reflect the need to assist public safety whilst also minimising light spill to avoid harm to protected species. The approved scheme shall be implemented before the development is occupied and shall be permanently maintained thereafter. No further external lighting shall be installed on site without the prior approval, in writing, of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of the amenity of the area, public safety, protected species, and biodiversity.

4. Before installation of the electrical substation as shown on the approved site plans, a noise assessment shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall include background sound measurements at times the plant will be in operation; a comparison with the operational plant sound level; the likely external noise impact on sensitive receptors in the area, and mitigation to prevent an adverse effect. The assessment shall be undertaken in accordance with BS4142:2014 Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound, and include penalties for any tonality, impulsivity, or intermittency of the plant.

The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details and the noise attenuation measures shall be retained thereafter.

Reason: In order to protect the living conditions of future occupiers of residential properties.

5. The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with the details set out in the submitted Stage 1, 2 and 3 Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement Report (RSK Biocensus – Project No. 2483604 Rev 0 20/02/2023). All trees and hedges shown to be retained in the Appendix 5 Tree Protection Plan (Dwg. No. 2 Rev 1 20/02/2023) shall be fully safeguarded during the course of site works and building operations.

Reason: To ensure that trees and hedges to be retained are adequately protected from damage to health and stability throughout the construction period and in the interests of amenity.

6. The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with the detailed biodiversity mitigation, compensation and enhancement/net gain strategy set out within the Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy – January 2024 Update (RSK Biocensus – Project No. 2483600).

Reason: To mitigate, compensate and enhance/provide net gain for impacts on biodiversity.

7. The construction of the development hereby approved shall be limited to between the hours of 07:00hrs – 19:00hrs on Mondays to Fridays, 08:00hrs – 13:00hrs on Saturdays, with no activity on Sundays or Public Holidays.

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the area and living conditions of any surrounding residential properties.

#### **Informative Notes**

Prior Land Drainage Consent (LDC) may be required from DC's Flood Risk Management team, as relevant Lead Local Flood Authority, for all works that offer an obstruction to flow to a channel or stream with the status of Ordinary Watercourse (OWC) – in accordance with s23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991. The modification, amendment, or realignment of any OWC associated with the proposal under consideration, is likely to require such permission. We would encourage the applicant to submit, at an early stage, preliminary details concerning in channel works to the FRM team. LDC enquires can be sent to floodriskmanagement@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk.

**Application Reference:** P/LBC/2023/00884

Application Site: Crockers Farm Crockers Farm Lane Twyford Dorset SP7 0JF

Proposal: Demolition & removal of 2no. timber sheds attached to listed building

**Recommendation:** GRANT subject to conditions

#### **18.0** Decision: grant, subject to conditions:

1. The work to which this listed building consent relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the consent is granted.

Reason: This condition is required to be imposed by reason of Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended).

- 2. The works hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans:
  - 92 Existing & proposed block plan received 17/02/2023.
  - 03 Existing & proposed floor plans received 17/02/2023.
  - 01 A1 Location plan received 17/02/2023.
  - 02 Proposed elevations received 30/08/2023.

Reason: To preserve the architectural and historical qualities of the building.

3. Details of 2 bat boxes shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority which shall be erected as agreed prior to first occupation or use of the development hereby approved.

Reason: To enhance or protect biodiversity.

4. Prior to first occupation or use of the development hereby approved the mitigation measures as detailed in the Biodiversity Mitigation Plan dated 06/10/2023 shall be completed in full.

Reason: To minimise impacts on biodiversity.

#### Informative Notes:

1.Informative: National Planning Policy Framework Statement

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused on providing sustainable development.

The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:

- offering a pre-application advice service, and
- as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions.

In this case:

- -The application was acceptable as submitted and no further assistance was required.
- 2. The applicant is reminded of their responsibility to submit photographic evidence of compliance with the Biodiversity Plan or LEMP to Dorset Natural Environment Team in order to comply fully with requirements of condition 4.